# **Sectors Unchained**

Building a Case for Sector and Industry Selection

- This is the first in a series of industry reports we plan to publish over the upcoming period. This report uses both stock and industry level data, while employing cross-sectional and time-series methods to study returns, variance and co-movement across US industries. The goal of this anatomical study is to lay the foundation that will be used for constructing a systematic industry selection process.
- The first section of the report reveals the importance of industries in explaining stock returns. Total weighted variance of all stocks was decomposed into components that were attributed to the market, to industry-specific and stock-specific idiosyncratic variance.

The share of industry-specific idiosyncratic variation remained relatively stable over the last 20 years, accounting for 21% of total variation. Stock-specific idiosyncratic variation accounted for the largest share, representing 54% of total variation, but its share has been on a declining trend. By contrast, contribution of market variation, averaging 25%, has been rising.

At a more granular level, most sectors exhibited a downward trend in their respective stock-specific variation relative to total variation, with the exception of Energy, Financials, IT, and Health Care—suggesting these areas may offer greater opportunity for stock selection.

• Three approaches were used to examine co-movements among industries and cohesiveness within industries, which may have implications for alpha generation and risk management.

Using average pair wise intra-industry stock correlations, Semis, Utilities, Energy and Real Estate exhibited most cohesiveness, while Commercial & Professional Services, Software Services, Consumer Services and Media exhibited least cohesiveness.

The use of a cross sectional equality of means test suggested that Utilities, Energy, Banks and Semis were least similar to the rest of the market on average, while Commercial & Professional Services, Consumer Services, Auto & Components and Food & Staples Retailing were most similar.

We find that correlation based clustering presents an alternative and economically meaningful way of grouping industries, leading to a potentially more efficacious way of allocating risk within an investment process.

• An industry pairs trading strategy was used as a practical example to show the relationship between the efficacy of mean reversion of two industries and their respective pair wise correlation. A simple strategy of trading pairs of industries with a correlation above 0.3 yielded an IR of 0.5 with relatively consistent performance over a 20 year history.

### **U.S. Quantitative Strategy**

Dubravko Lakos-Bujas <sup>AC</sup> (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC

Marco Dion (44-20) 7134-5909 marco.x.dion@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

Robert Smith (852) 2800 8569 robert.z.smith@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited

Berowne Hlavaty (61-2) 9003-8602 berowne.d.hlavaty@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities Australia Limited

Angelo Pessaris (44-20) 7134-5907 angelo.pessaris@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

Viquar Shaikh (44-20) 7134-5908 viquar.x.shaikh@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

James Eustace (61-2) 9003-8601 james.eustace@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities Australia Limited

Christopher Ma (852) 2800-8530 christopher.x.ma@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited

Global Head of Quantitative and Derivatives Strategy

Marko Kolanovic (1-212) 272-1438 marko.kolanovic@jpmorgan.com

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC

See page 36 for analyst certification and important disclosures, including non-US analyst disclosures. J.P. Morgan does and seeks to do business with companies covered in its research reports. As a result, investors should be aware that the firm may have a conflict of interest that could affect the objectivity of this report. Investors should consider this report as only a single factor in making their investment decision.

www.jpmorganmarkets.com This document is being provided for the exclusive use of Hansi Huang at GOVT OF IRELAND.

# **Table of Contents**

Motivation	3
Introduction	4
Importance of Industry as a Driver of Stock Returns	5
Methodology	6
Takeaways	7
Stock Idiosyncratic Variance and Pair Wise Correlations	9
Industry Co-Movements: Three Perspectives	11
Average Pair-Wise Correlations	12
Cross-Sectional Equality of Means	14
Industry Clusters - Benefiting from Correlations	16
Industry Clusters – Get Smart	19
A Practical Example: Exploiting Joint Industry Behavior for Alpha Generation	22
Sectors or Industries: Can Macro Help Discriminate?	23
References	26
Appendix	27
A: GICS Industry Classifications (Level I, II, III)	27
B: Share of Stock-Specific Idiosyncratic Variance - by Industry Groups	28
C: Intra- and Inter-Sector Stock Correlations	30
D: Intra- and Inter-Industry Group Time-Series Correlations	30
E: Cross-Sectional Equality of Means Test Analysis	32
F: Industry Clusters (1990–2013)	35

#### Dubravko Lakos-Bujas (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

It is quite remarkable how little of traditional sell side *Quantitative* equity research and academic research is focused on sector or industry selection when compared to stock selection....so, what might explain this gap?

Drivers of industries' fundamentals can be very specific to the industry's line of business

Industry selection is seen as a macro timing problem

Industries are constantly evolving as technology continuously reshapes products and services

Only way to compensate for narrow breadth across industries is to have more accurate forecasts

# J.P.Morgan

3

# **Motivation**

It is quite remarkable how little of traditional sell side *Quantitative* equity research is focused on sector or industry selection when compared to stock selection. A cursory examination of academic literature also reveals a similar imbalance between stock and industry in equity research. Typically, Quant equity researchers - buy and sell side - pay great attention to identifying factors driving cross-section of returns within an industry with only perfunctory attention to sector or industry selection. The task of industry selection usually lies with strategists who work with top-down economists, bottom-up fundamental analysts and proprietary indicators to put together sector/industry rankings.

What might explain then, from a Quant perspective, this wide gap in allocation of research brain power between stock selection and industry selection? In our opinion, there is a justifiable belief that systematic industry selection or rotation is deemed a difficult task.

For one, the drivers of industries' fundamentals, such as sales growth and profitability, can be very specific to the industry's line of business. Will the demand for farm machinery (capital goods) by emerging markets, as the rural labor force drifts to more productive urban activities, grow faster than the demand for medical treatment and hospitalization (Health Care Equipment and Services), as the baby boomers in US and Europe age? One could credibly argue that the cross-industry expertise needed to model and tackle such questions is rare or even non-existent.

Even if one ignores industry specific minutiae and focuses on broader trends, industry selection is seen as a macro timing problem. Making a call on relative performance of industries is equivalent to making some combination of business cycle and thematic call or simply market timing, which many consider the holy grail of investing. Unlike strategies that rely on factors to be profitable, such as risk premium, providing liquidity, and over- or under-reaction of investors to new information, market timing in large part depends on getting fundamentals right before the majority of the market participants. As such, skepticism about existence of strategies that can time market consistently is understandable.

Industries, just like firms that comprise them, are constantly evolving as technology continuously reshapes products and services. Unlike the composite equity market, which can be studied over a period exceeding one or even two hundred years using a consistent metric such as Robert Shiller's price to rolling 10-year earnings ratio, it appears artificial to consider the nature of an industry to be constant for more than a few decades at best. For example, in 1884, of the 11 constituents of the newly created Dow Jones Transportation Average (the oldest surviving US stock market index) 9 companies were in the business of railroad, one in the steamship business and there was one telegraph company. How different that is from today's stock index! Industries die over time and new ones replace them—that is just how it is.

Lastly, the number of assets typically available in making an industry call is much smaller, for instance only 10 sectors or 24 industry groups. The only way to compensate for narrow breadth is to have more accurate forecasts—that is the challenge. One could get more granular and work at industry (68 entities) or sub-industry level (over 120), but then the line between industry selection and stock selection gets blurred.

Dubravko Lakos-Bujas (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

However...an investment process is inherently incomplete without providing a framework for industry tilts

Industry allocation can play an important role in risk management

There has been an increase in demand for building-out frameworks for appropriately allocating risk across sectors

This is the first in a series of industry reports that lays the foundation for constructing systematic industry selection

4

North America Equity Research 07 May 2013

However...

While acknowledging the aforementioned challenges in modeling industry selection, we nonetheless believe that it is worthwhile to build tools that permit us to have views about industries. An investment process is inherently incomplete without providing a framework for industry tilts.

J.P.Morgan

Even those who are skeptical about generating alpha systematically using industry selection would likely agree on the importance of industry from a risk management point of view. The recent industry bubbles showcase that even with an efficacious stock selection process in place, mismanaging sector exposures can lead to significant portfolio underperformance.

In fact, feedback that we have been receiving from many of our large institutional clients suggests an increase in demand and overall interest in building-out frameworks for appropriately allocating risk across sectors within an investment process. Also, the plethora of ETFs<sup>1</sup> and structured products that have been brought to the market over the last several years, if anything, should provide for more flexibility and help ease the implementation side of things.

# Introduction

This is the first in a series of industry reports we will be doing over the upcoming period<sup>2</sup>. This report uses both stock level and industry<sup>3</sup> level data while employing cross-sectional and time series methods to study returns, variance and correlations across US industries. The goal of this anatomical study of industries is to lay the foundation that will be used for constructing a systematic industry selection process. This introductory research covers several topics, but primarily focuses on:

- How important is industry membership as a driver of stock returns? The total weighted variance of all the stocks is decomposed into components that can be attributed to the market, to industry-specific and to stock-specific idiosyncratic variance. This provides a time-line on the changing importance of market, industries and stocks for explaining variation in stock returns. Also, it allows us to quantify how much opportunity may be offered by stock selection, in total and within individual industries.
- The co-movement among industries is examined from several perspectives. Firstly, *pair wise time series industry correlations* are used to identify which industries, at the index level, cluster together and which are far apart. Do the clusters depend on whether we are in a bull market or a bear market? Are there alternatives to traditional GICS sector classification by clustering industry groups? Secondly, using *pair wise time series stock correlations*, we ask the question: in which industries is the gravitational pull of industry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For more information on the ETF market, please refer to the <u>J.P. Morgan Global ETF</u> <u>Handbook</u>, Kolanovic et al., 2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The authors wish to thank Sang Han and Narendra Singh of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC for their contribution to this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Throughout this report the word "industry" generically refers to a portfolio of "economically similar" stocks – in this sense, depending on the context, industry can be a stand-in for GICS Level I sectors, GICS Level II industry groups and GICS Level III industries.

5

membership on stock returns the strongest and/or consistent, and in which industries are stocks more or less "tightly knit"? Similarly, based on pair wise stock correlations across industries, which industries are most alike, which are most dissimilar? Thirdly, we employ a test of *cross-sectional equality of means* by industry to test which industries' returns are outliers and which industries are "more like rest of the market". This method can be used to identify industries that are exhibiting unusual or even bubble like behavior.

• Lastly, by taking a sample of common top down macro drivers, we examine the causality relationship between macro and industry returns, and whether there is an advantage or disadvantage in using macro variables at a more aggregated level (sectors) versus more disaggregated levels (industry groups and industries).

The subsequent reports will build on this aforementioned analysis and more importantly focus on the construction and utilization of various signals for conducting industry selection systematically.

# Importance of Industry as a Driver of Stock Returns

A fascinating characteristic of industry performance is large multi-year run ups in the performance of one or more industry followed by a spectacular collapse. In the past four decades three industries, Energy, Information Technology and Financials, have gone through what, in retrospect, were considered frothy markets—see Figure 1. During such episodes the absolute and *relative* ability of industries to explain stock-specific variation increases sharply thus giving investors an omen that not all is normal anymore.

There are many ways of tracking the relative importance of industry versus stocks and each has its strong and weak points. Here we have chosen a relatively simple approach, being well aware of its weakness in that it does not decompose the total variation in stocks into orthogonal components of market, industry and stock-specific contributions. However, the method is very transparent and intuitively appealing and does the job of identifying the relative importance of stocks and industries in explaining total variation.

Importance of industry in explaining variation of stock returns...



Figure 1: Major Industry Run-Ups over the Past Four Decades

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

### Methodology

In tracking the importance of industry in explaining variation of stock returns, we have used a simple decomposition approach proposed by Campbell et al. (2001, equation 14). Their approach, based on simplifying assumptions, decomposes weighted stock variance as the following:

Total Variance = Market Variance + Industry-Specific Variance + Stock-Specific Variance  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} w_{it} \sum_{j=1}^{N_i} w_{jit} Var(R_{jit}) = \sigma_{mt}^2 + \sigma_{\epsilon t}^2 + \sigma_{\eta t}^2$ 

*N* is the number of industries and  $w_{it}$  is the weight of the industry in the market.  $N_i$  is the number of stocks in industry *i* and  $w_{jit}$  is the weight of stock *j* in industry *i*.  $R_{jit}$  is the total return of stock *j* in industry *i* at time *t*. The left side of the equation is the weighted sum of the variance of individual stock returns. In other words, it can be thought of as the expected variance of all stocks in the market.

On the right hand side,  $\sigma_{mt}^2$  is the variance of market return<sup>4</sup>,  $\sigma_{\epsilon t}^2$  is the weighted sum of industry-level idiosyncratic variance and  $\sigma_{\eta t}^2$  is the weighted sum of stock-specific idiosyncratic variance.

$$\sigma_{\epsilon t}^2 = \sum_{i=1}^N w_{it} \, Var(R_{it}) - \sigma_{mt}^2$$

 $\sigma_{\epsilon t}^2$  can be roughly interpreted as the difference between a weighted undiversified industry portfolio (assuming correlations between all industries equal one) and a diversified weighted industry portfolio, which is simply the market; it also captures the distribution of stock variances across the market. The market has lower variance than weighted sum of industry variances because the industry-idiosyncratic error has been "canceled" out or diversified away. Similarly, we proceed from industry to stock level by defining  $\sigma_{nt}^2$  as the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The decomposition exercise was run using total returns for S&P 500 stocks starting from January 1990. In all, there are more than 1200 distinct stocks in our universe, though in any given month we used the stocks that were members of the index at that point. The variance was calculated using a month worth of daily total returns.

J.P.Morgan

7

$$\sigma_{\eta t}^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} w_{it} \left( \sum_{j=1}^{N_{i}} w_{jit} Var(R_{jit}) - Var(R_{it}) \right)$$

The term  $\sigma_{\eta t}^2$  has a similar interpretation – for each industry, the difference between the weighted sum of single stock variances and industry variance is the stock-specific idiosyncratic variance that diversifies away at industry level. More specifically,  $\sigma_{\eta t}^2$  is the sum of the stock-specific idiosyncratic variances, weighted by industry weight in the market<sup>5</sup>.

### Takeaways

Using the above detailed methodology, Figure 2 below illustrates the total weighted stock volatility and market volatility over time. The gap between these two lines is the sum of idiosyncratic industry-specific variation and idiosyncratic stock-specific variation.





Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

The exact decomposition of total weighted stock volatility depends on the level of disaggregation of industries (more on that a bit later). Figure 3 shows the share of total variation explained by the weighted sum of 24 industry-groups specific idiosyncratic variation. On average, over the period 1990-2012, industry groupspecific variation accounted for 21.0%. It remained relatively stable throughout the history, with the exception of a few spikes concentrated during industry bubbles.

A more recent paper by Bali et al. (2008) examines a similar decomposition method

Share of industry group-specific idiosyncratic variation remained relatively stable over the last 20 years, accounting for 21% of total variation on average

J.P.Morgan



Figure 3: Share of Industry Group-Specific Idiosyncratic Variation Remained Stable over Time

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

It is not surprising that stock-specific idiosyncratic error is by far the largest component of total variation, representing 53.8% on average over the sample history. Campbell et al. (2001) reported similar results over a longer horizon (1962 to 1997).

However, our findings depart from their long-term observations in one crucial aspect. While Campbell et al. found that the stock specific variation component was on a long term upward trend, we find that (at least for the S&P 500 universe), the share of stock-specific variation has been on a downward trend since the mid-90s. On the other hand, the contribution of market variance to total variance, averaging 25.2%, has exhibited a rising trend over that same time period. The rising share of market volatility during and arguably post-financial crisis period is reminiscent of the market level "risk-on, risk-off" paradigm that is commonly believed to have driven equity and other financial markets—see Figure 4.





Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

Stock-specific idiosyncratic variation on average represented 54% of total variation...

...however, it has been on a declining trend, while the contribution of market variation has exhibited a rising trend over the last 20 years

8

Dubravko Lakos-Bujas (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

Most sectors exhibited a downward trend in their respective stock-specific variance, with the exception of Energy, Financials, IT, and Health Care...

...suggesting these areas may offer greater opportunity for stock selection. The same decomposition exercise was done at a more granular level to investigate stock-specific idiosyncratic variation trends within individual sectors. As expected, most of the 10 GICS Level I sectors exhibited a downward trend in their respective share of stock-specific variance. The only exceptions were Energy, Financials and IT which showed an upward trend in stock-specific variance (in part due to their industry-specific bubbles), while Health Care remained flattish throughout the history, suggesting these areas may offer greater opportunity for stock selection.

Furthermore, decomposition of sectors into 24 GICS Level II industry groups show a similar pattern – see Appendix for detailed charts displaying share of stock-specific variance relative to total variance by industry group. While this analysis suggests that decline in stock-specific variance is a relatively widespread phenomenon, it is however worth noting that several industries do exhibit varying and unique trends:

- The energy space has seen a relatively consistent and upward momentum in stock-specific variance since 2000—possibly driven by the marginal increase in demand from emerging markets.
- Among Financial industries, with the exception of Banks which have exhibited a relatively steady downward trend, the other industries have shown the contrary. Real Estate stood out in particular—its stock-specific variance has been on a steady rise since early '00s and not surprisingly has remained elevated post-2007.
- The IT sector has seen a relative sharp increase in the share of stock-specific variance post the '08 crisis, with Technology Hardware and Software Services being the main drivers, suggesting renewed interest in those respective industries.
- Within Consumer Discretionary, while the overall sector trend is down, for Consumer Services (Hotels, Leisure, Education) the trend is slightly up and Retailing has also turned up more recently after a long downward trend.

In our opinion at least, these trends are certainly worth tracking, as they may provide equity managers with indication as to where the most/least alpha opportunity may lie from a stock selection point of view.

### **Stock Idiosyncratic Variance and Pair Wise Correlations**

In their paper, Campbell et al. noted the *falling* average pair wise *correlation* among stocks over the period 1962-1997 as an implication of *rising* stock-specific idiosyncratic *variance* even when the market variance has not increased. They note that "declining (stock) correlations allow the volatility of market portfolio to remain the same even if there is an increase in each individual stock's volatility" (2001, pp.23).

Since our research, however, indicates a *decline* in the relative share of stock-specific idiosyncratic variance during the last 20 years, it would imply that pair-wise correlation among individual securities should have been on a rise. In fact, as illustrated in Figure 5, that has been the case. The 52-week rolling pair-wise correlation has exhibited an upward trend since the early '90s, where both the shift in level as well as the instability of correlation post-2007 has been striking. For instance, pre-2006 the average correlation of 0.21 was just half the average of 0.41 in the post-2006 period.

The flip side of the declining stock-specific idiosyncratic variance is the rising average pair wise stock correlation North America Equity Research 07 May 2013

# J.P.Morgan

9



Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

We now turn our attention to the level of aggregation of stocks into various industry levels and what it means for the relative size of industry-specific and stock-specific share of idiosyncratic variance. Sector or GICS Level I has just 10 buckets into which individual stocks are divided, industry group or GICS Level II has 24 buckets and industry or GICS Level III has 66 buckets.

As expected, the higher the aggregation the greater the diversification and the lower the share of industry-specific idiosyncratic variance—see Figure 6. At the highest level of aggregation, namely 10 sectors, average share of industry-specific idiosyncratic variance since 1990 is just 14.3%, while that for Level II (24 buckets) is 21.0% and at the most disaggregate Level III (66 buckets) the share rises to 30.2%.





Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

Figure 6, also, shows that during the tech bubble (1997-2001) and the financial crisis (2007-2010) the share of industry-specific variation spiked. It is also interesting to note that during these periods of heightened anxiety and overall volatility, the share of market-specific variation has risen while that of stock-specific and, to a smaller extent, industry-specific share has fallen.

The higher the industry aggregation the greater the diversification and the lower the share of industry-specific idiosyncratic variance relative to total variance

The volatility of total variance itself appears to be most driven by the market

Over the entire period, while stock-specific idiosyncratic variance represents the biggest contribution, the *volatility in total variance* itself appears to be most driven by the market. The average and standard deviation of the variance of market-specific, industry-specific and stock-specific components along with the total variance over the whole period is shown in Table 1.

Even though the market's average variance is much smaller than that of stockspecific (which also varies as a function of the level of industry disaggregation), the volatility of market-specific variation is greater than that of stock-specific variation. In fact, the market coefficient of variation is double that of stock, which is remarkably constant around the 0.8 level irrespective of industry disaggregation.

### Table 1: Behavior of Variance Contribution

Total variation explained by Market, Industry, Stocks over 1990-2013				
	Average Standard Coeffici			
		(μ)	Deviation $(\sigma)$	Variation ( $\sigma/\mu$ )
	Market	3.6%	6.3%	1.75
GICS Level I	Sector	2.0%	2.5%	1.29
(10)	Stocks	6.7%	5.4%	0.81
GICS Level	Industry Group	2.8%	3.3%	1.18
II (24)	Stocks	5.9%	4.7%	0.80
GICS Level	Industry	3.8%	4.0%	1.07
III (66)	Stocks	4.9%	4.0%	0.81
	Total	12.3%	13.0%	1.06

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

# Industry Co-Movements: Three Perspectives

Three approaches were used to examine co-movements among industries:

- We examine the *average pair-wise time series correlation* of excess returns of stocks within industries and across industries. This is useful in understanding which industries are more "tightly-knit", i.e. in which industries do stocks exhibit a higher degree of co-movement. It also provides us with a measure of how "close or far", on average, stocks of one industry tend to be from another industry.
- We report the *cross-sectional equality of means*<sup>6</sup> of each industry relative to other industries. This is a useful measure to identify which industries are

<sup>6</sup> The t-test statistics for equality of means, with unknown and possibly unequal variance, is given by:

 $t-stat = (\overline{x}_1 - \overline{x}_2)/\hat{\sigma}$ , where  $\hat{\sigma} = \sqrt{\frac{s_1^2}{n_1 - 1} + \frac{s_2^2}{n_2 - 1}}$ ,  $\overline{x}_i$  and  $s_i^2$ , i = 1,2 are the sample means and variances respectively. The *p*-value is the probability of observing the above t-stat or something more extreme if the null hypothesis (means are equal) is true. Lower p-value indicates that the likelihood of equal means is low (thus, higher likelihood of dissimilarity between sample means 1 and 2).

Three approaches were used to examine co-movements among industries: correlation clustering, average pair wise time series correlations, cross sectional equality of means

"outliers" in any point in time. By using a novel approach of framing the difference of industry returns in terms of probability (p-value), we are able to compare the resulting time-series of industries.

• We compare the correlation of standard capitalization weighted industry indices and identify which industries tend to *cluster* together.

We deem that information gleaned from these three approaches can help both from an alpha and from a portfolio risk management perspective.

## **Average Pair-Wise Correlations**

For each stock within an industry group, we calculate pair wise correlation using weekly excess returns with a look back period of 52 weeks, from 1990 to 2013. The calculation in any given week is only for stocks that are members of S&P500 index. For each industry group, we average the correlation of stocks within that group and that with every other industry group (24 in all). Table 2 shows a summary of the pair wise correlations<sup>7</sup>.

### **Table 2: Intra and Inter-Industry Group Correlations**

Inductor.	Mean Intra-Industry Pair	Mean Number of	Max Inter-Industry	Min Inter-Industry
industry	Wise Correlation	Pairs	Correlation with:	Correlation with:
SemiSemiEq	0.43	83	TechHwEqp	Utilities
Utilities	0.42	509	FdBevTob	SemiSemiEq
Energy	0.40	464	Utilities	SemiSemiEq
RealEstate	0.39	35	AutoComp	TelecommSv
Banks	0.35	247	DivFinanci	SemiSemiEq
HHPrPdts	0.25	23	FdBevTob	SemiSemiEq
TelecommSv	0.24	47	Utilities	SemiSemiEq
AutoComp	0.23	31	CapitalGd	FdBevTob
FdBevTob	0.20	264	HHPrPdts	SemiSemiEq
Transptn	0.20	61	AutoComp	TelecommSv
Insurance	0.19	188	Banks	SemiSemiEq
DivFinanci	0.19	240	Banks	Utilities
Materials	0.18	814	AutoComp	TelecommSv
Retailing	0.16	310	ConDurAp	Utilities
TechHwEqp	0.14	293	SemiSemiEq	Utilities
HcEquipSvc	0.14	263	PhrmBioLfS	SemiSemiEq
CapitalGd	0.14	858	AutoComp	TelecommSv
PhrmBioLfS	0.13	178	HcEquipSvc	AutoComp
ConDurAp	0.13	221	AutoComp	Utilities
Food/StpIR	0.12	67	FdBevTob	SemiSemiEq
Media	0.11	120	ConsSrv	PhrmBioLfS
ConsSrv	0.10	57	ConDurAp	Energy
SftwSvcs	0.09	240	SemiSemiEq	Utilities
CommProfSe	0.06	60	CapitalGd	TelecommSv

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

There are several points we draw the readers attention to – some unsurprising, others surprising to us:

Using average intra- and interpair wise correlations to examine cohesiveness within industries and co-movements among industries...

Highest intra-industry pair wise correlation: Semis, Utilities, Energy, Real Estate

Least intra-industry pair wise correlations: Commercial & Professional Services, Software Services, Consumer Services, Media

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Recall that these correlations are for excess return, i.e. stock return less market return. We did a similar exercise calculating excess return by subtracting equal weighted returns of all the stocks in S&P500. The table using equal weighted excess return is very similar to Table 2 and is available on request.

- The ranking order based on intra-industry group correlations appears unrelated to any typical classification of industries. For instance, in the top 4 we have Semiconductors, a highly cyclical industry and Utilities, a defensive or noncyclical industry. On the other hand, Technology Hardware and Software are less cohesive industry groups than most – that surprised us. We were not, however, surprised to find that stocks in Commercial and Professional Services were least correlated – it is a very diverse sector.
- 2. The pairing of industries, based on inter-industry correlations, is less surprising. Defensive stocks appear to gravitate towards defensive stocks for instance stocks across defensive industries (Utilities, Food, Beverages & Tobacco, and Household Products) are closely related. Cyclical stocks are more correlated to cyclical stocks Tech Hardware and Semis are close, Transportation and Auto industries are close. No surprises here. Indeed this provides rationale for the way Level I sector is aggregated from Level II industry groups.
- 3. Among the least related stocks (column five in the table), two industries loom large Semis and Utilities. Semis show up 9 times as least correlated stocks with primarily defensive industries, while Utilities 6 times with cyclical industries. As such, stocks in these industries could act as good diversifiers.
- 4. Furthermore, on a time-series basis, the rolling correlation rankings are relatively stable. For instance, Semis are outlined in Figure 7, which shows four rolling correlations of excess returns on top is the Semi intra-industry group correlation, which lingers at the ~0.3 level. Next is Semis correlation with their closest cousin Tech Hardware and Equipments. The average correlation with all industries combined is close to zero. The correlation with Utilities (the farthest industry) is almost always negative.

As another example Figure 8 shows the same correlation analysis for the Pharma industry group. It is interesting to note that the inter-industry group correlation tends to rise around recessions (1990, 2000, 2008) – potentially suggesting investors getting more "industry conscious" in these periods. The rolling correlation charts for all other industries are located under Appendix.



Figure 7: Semiconductor and Semi Equipment: Closest to Tech Hardware, Farthest from Utilities

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies



Figure 8: Pharmaceuticals and Bio Life Sciences: Closet to HealthCare, Farthest from Auto

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

5. As one might expect, the degree of cohesion (size of mean pair wise correlation) is a function of the GICS level aggregation. The higher the level of aggregation (GICS Level I), the lower the level of intra-industry correlations. While intra-industry correlations for Level II are shown in Table 2, the correlations for Level I can be viewed in Appendix.

### **Cross-Sectional Equality of Means**

In this section, instead of examining rolling correlations over time we use the average cross-sectional returns of stocks within an industry to identify industries that are behaving "more like rest of the stocks in the market" or differently. What is novel about this approach is that we can visually track when an industry is breaking away from the rest of the pack fairly early – we use weekly returns to calculate the average return and then use a *t-test for equal means* to compare an industry's own average return with the ex-industry (or market) average return. For example, to take an extreme case, Figure 9 shows the time series of P-values from the t-test with the hypothesis being that the average return of Utilities stocks is equivalent with the rest of the stocks in the market.





Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

Another interesting example is Tech Hardware, where a stock's average return has a low probability of being similar to rest of the market stocks, even though the probability does exhibit a cyclical pattern. Here we can clearly see the tech bubble beginning around 1994 (as the probability of similarity diminishes), peaking in 2001, deflating thereafter. The P-value of Tech Hardware remains below pre-1994 level

Using cross sectional equality of means test to examine an industry's *similarity* to the rest of the market...

though during the 2008 financial crisis, stocks in this industry did become more associated to the market – see Figure 10.





Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

Table 3 summarizes the average P-value for each industry group – where, again, low value implies *low probability* of average stock return within an industry being similar to the broader market, and vice-versa. Additionally, Table 3 contains the current 3 month average P-value – it is interesting that the returns behavior of many typically outlier industry groups (Semiconductors, Utilities, Tech Hardware, Banks) is more alike the overall market as of late.

### Table 3: Lower the P-value of an Industry, Lower the Probability of its 'Similarity' with Market

		Average P-Value	Last 3- months (Jan-Mar 2013)
Least similar, on average,	Utilities	0.15	0.19
industries to the market:	Energy	0.15	0.33
Utilities, Energy, Banks, and	Banks	0.18	0.38
Semi	SemiSemiEq	0.23	0.40
	FdBevTob	0.24	0.37
	Materials	0.25	0.33
	DivFinanci	0.25	0.35
	Insurance	0.27	0.39
	HcEquipSvc	0.27	0.34
	PhrmBioLfS	0.28	0.34
	TechHwEqp	0.28	0.36
	CapitalGd	0.28	0.34
	Retailing	0.29	0.38
	TelecommSv	0.29	0.22
	RealEstate	0.30	0.23
	HHPrPdts	0.32	0.19
industries most similar to the	SftwSvcs	0.34	0.20
market: Commercial &	Transptn	0.34	0.21
Professional Services	ConDurAp	0.35	0.31
Concurrer Services,	Media	0.35	0.28
Consumer Services, Auto &	Food/StpIR	0.35	0.54
Components, and Food &	AutoComp	0.37	0.46
Staples Retailing	ConsSrv	0.39	0.39
	CommProfSe	0.44	0.05

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

15

16

#### Dubravko Lakos-Bujas (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

We study the benefits of using correlations to form industry clusters

Industry clustering may present an alternative and economically meaningful way of grouping industries, leading to a potentially more efficacious way of allocating risk within an investment process

# Industry Clusters – Benefiting from Correlations

Our final exploration of inter-industry co-movement is at the traditional market capitalization industry level. Unlike the previous two investigations of co-movement that were primarily at stock level (within industry), in this section we have used weekly performance of S&P500 industries' total return indexes. There are three questions we primarily explored:

- Do the correlation clusters of industries depend on whether we are in a bull or bear market?
- What are some potentially alternative approaches to grouping stocks and industries? For instance we examine finer disaggregate industries and show that we can aggregate these back up into larger meaningful groups in a 'smarter' way using a statistical clustering approach.
- Can correlations among industries be exploited in forming alpha strategies? We illustrate an example of a strategy that exploits mean-reversion properties among highly correlated industries.

To check if the market cycle matters for industry clustering we divided the historical period, 1990-2013, into two parts: periods when the stock market was trending up and periods when it was declining. While this was done with pure benefit of hindsight, it does not violate the purpose of this exercise. Figure 11 shows the bull and bear phases.



Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

Furthermore, Figures 12 and 13 each illustrate a dendrogram of clusters<sup>8</sup> formed among industry groups based on pair wise correlations. The approach, essentially, uses correlations to measure distance between two industry groups – higher the correlation, closer the industries (as illustrated by the height of the box connecting the industries in the Figures 12 and 13; lower distance is equivalent to higher correlation). Then the next closest industry to each of the initial groups is identified and a second and more aggregate group is formed. The process is repeated until all

Please see footnote of Figure 14

# J.P.Morgan

J.P.Morgan

industries fall under various levels of clusters, resulting in a hierarchical tree structure or dendrogram<sup>9</sup>.

Some initial observations based on the below dendrograms:

- A lot of the usual suspects clustered together during bull and bear periods. Tech Hardware and Semiconductors, Banks and Diversified Financials, Food, Beverages & Tobacco and Household Products are the three most integrated pairs. Health Care Equipment & Services and Pharmaceuticals are also close and are closer to the consumer staples block.
- Tech space, in general, is somewhat isolated as its correlation distance from the rest of the industry groups is relatively far during bull and, especially, bear markets.
- Energy, similarly, sticks out some as a lonely child, especially in bull markets, as its correlation distance to the closest industry pair is the farthest relative to all other pairs. Additionally, it is interesting to note that during both bull and bear markets, Energy gravitates closer to defensive industries.
- When comparing bull to bear markets, it is interesting to observe that while correlation among the less aggregated clusters is higher during bear periods, correlation among the more aggregated clusters is lower during those same periods. This potentially suggests that a clustering approach could be used to introduce a higher degree a diversification within an investment process.

on correlation based industry clustering

Some initial observations based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A cluster can be defined as one or more industries that are closest to each other based on inter-correlations, as measured by the Euclidean distance. By successively adding clusters, a hierarchical tree structure (dendrogram) is built, as shown in Figures 12, 13, and 14. The distance between clusters is represented by the length of the line(s) parallel to the x-axis of the dendrogram. The leaves (industries) connected by immediate branches are more similar to each other, while leaves (industries) connected by distant branches are less similar. Essentially, the resulting tree gives a quick visual representation of the similarities and dissimilarities among all industries based on their pair wise correlations.

Dubravko Lakos-Bujas (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com North America Equity Research 07 May 2013



### Figure 12: Industry Group Clusters Based on Correlation of Weekly Returns (Bull Market)

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

### Figure 13: Industry Group Clusters Based on Correlation of Weekly Returns (Bear Market)



Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

Industry clusters during both bull and bear markets appear to be similar

In general, the joint behavior of industries during bull and bear markets does not appear to be much different. Most of the clusters are intact. This is reassuring and suggests that, in general, strategies that *rely on the joint behavior* of industries do not necessarily need to be significantly conditioned based on the market phase.

Dubravko Lakos-Bujas (1-212) 622-3601 dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

It might make sense to reconstruct larger industry clusters from finer sub-groups of industries... North America Equity Research 07 May 2013

### Industry Clusters – Get Smart

Earlier in the report we drew attention to GICS Level II industry groups whose stocks showed low intra-industry correlation (please see Table 2). This begs the question: does it make sense to examine finer sub-groups of those industries to reconstruct more coherent larger industry clusters? We think there is definitely potential for that.

Obviously joint correlation is just one way of putting groups or clusters together. Essentially we are using the *distance* between total return correlations to decide which industries should be grouped together. In this sense, our clusters express backward looking joint price or return movement.

One could, also, use other more current factors, such as leverage (debt-to-equity) to group industries together and then express a view on leverage in a rising rates environment by underweighting more leveraged group of industries and overweighting less indebted group of industries. Similarly, in a rising growth environment, a group/cluster of industries with higher operational leverage would be preferred over those with lower operational leverage. We plan to examine this approach in more depth in our subsequent reports.

In the meanwhile, return based clusters is not a bad place to start. As we have shown earlier, return based clusters have been relatively stable in the past. Besides, price discovery typically captures most available information in the market. Therefore, any return-based clusters should play an important role when creating aggregate unconventional industry groups. With this in mind, we used GICS Level III industries as the building units for creating larger groups.

A shorter, 5 year, history was used as many smaller and/or newer industries, like internet software, do not have longer histories going back to 1990s. With 5 years of history we were able to use a correlation matrix based on 64 industries. For those interested in what full history (1990-2013) correlation-based clusters would look like, please turn to Appendix where the cluster map uses the full history but is based on only 46 industries.

We have used the distance between the "tree-like-linkages" that connect industries upstream into 5 major groups—see Figure 14. While the groupings may be somewhat arbitrary, there is economic reason behind them. The industries along the top of the vertical axis slide from deeply defensive (Group 1), to moderate defensives (Group 2), to early cyclicals (Group 3), to consumer (or mid-cycle) cyclicals (Group 4), and to deeply (late cycle) cyclicals (Group 5). In a sense, return correlations neatly tie up with our intuitive notion of how the market "hangs together".

Defensiveness and cyclicality characterize the correlationbased clusters



Figure 14: Get Smart - Rebuilding Large Meaningful Groups from Industries

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies Note: Numerical value next to industry abbreviation is the GICS Level III code.

In order to analytically characterize the correlation based clustering, we illustrate selected common financial ratios for the five groups. Figure 15 reports the market beta (relative to S&P500, 1/08-4/13), dividend yield, 12-month forward price earnings, expected long term growth, expected ROE and Debt/Equity.

The broad characteristics of the groups are in line with the earnings cycle. The deep defensives have the lowest beta, highest dividend yield, relatively lower expected long-term growth rates and high leverage. Market beta rises as we move toward cyclical, where Group 5 has the highest beta of 1.33. Dividend yield is the highest for Group 1 and 2, consistent with our description of them as defensives. Group 5 or late cyclicals appear relatively cheapest, a bit worrisome since that usually happens at the peak of the cycle. Group 3 and Group 4 have the highest expected long-term growth rate – again consistent with our description of them as early to mid-cycle industries. High financial leverage resides at the extremes, namely Group 1 and Group 5.

J.P.Morgan

-		Instance and Their Characteristics - From Deen Defensions to Deen Confident
301010 Fd & Stpl Ret 302010 Beverages 302020 Food Pdts 302030 Tobacco 303010 Hhold Pdts 352020 Pharm 501010 Div Tele Svc 551030 Multi-Util 351030 Multi-Util 351010 Hc Eqm & Sup 352010 Biotechnology	Defensives	Dominated by Consumer Staples, Utilities, HealthCare - good Group to hide in a storm Lowest Market Beta = 0.73 Highest dividend payers, Dividend Yield = 2.8% Relatively expensive, forward PE= 16.5 Expected LongTerm Earnings Growth = 8.7% Solid Fwd ROE = 18.3% Leverage is high with Debt/Equity = 82.7%
101020 Oil Gas C Fuel 551020 Gas Util 551050 Id Pw Pr Trd 253020 Div Con Svc 451030 Software 452010 Comm Svc⋑ 351020 Hc Pvdrs Svc 351030 Health Care Tech 352030 Life Sciences	Defensives	A mix of big Oil, higher Beta Utilities like Gas and Independent Power Providers plus higher Beta Health Care. Also, what is Software doing in this Group? Recall half of Software is the lower Beta, aging giant MSFT Market Beta = 0.96 Average Dividend Yield = 2.0% Cheaper than Group 1, forward PE = 15.5 LongTerm Growth about same as Group 1 = 8.7% Projected ROE below Group 1 = 15.3% But so is leverage, with Debt/Equity ratio = 62.7%
101010 Engy Eqm & Sv 151040 Metals & Mng 201030 Const & Eng 151010 Chemicals 151030 Cont & Pkg 201040 Elect Eqpm 203040 Road & Rail 202010 Comm Eqpm 255020 Int & Ctg Ret 303020 Prnsl Pdts 451020 IT Services 452020 Comp & Peri 453010 Semi & Semi Equp		Industries in this Group smell growth early and move early - many Materials industries (Metals & Mining, Chemicals), lots of IT(Semis, IT Services, Internet Software, Internet Retailing), and Capital Goods (Elect Equip, Const&Engineer) Market Beta = 1.04 Includes many dividend payers; still relatively lower Dividend Yield = 1.8% Slightly cheaper than Group 2, forward PE = 15.2 Better LongTerm expected growth than defensives = 12.0% Good ROE = 18.3% But leverage is relatively lower with Debt/Equity = 47.0%
201010 Aero & Defns 201070 Trad Cos&Dis 203010 Air Frt & Log 203020 Airlines 252020 Lei Eqm & Pdt 253010 Htl Rst & Lei 255010 Distributors 252030 Txtl & Apprl 255030 Multiline Ret 255040 Spctly Ret 401020 Thfts & Mrtg Fin 254010 Media 501020 Wrls Tlcm Svc	Consumer Oyclicals	Group 4 is stuffed with Consumer-based industries: Hotels, Airlines, Leisure Equipment, Retailing, Media, Wireless Telecom, Thrift&Mortgage. We cannot figure out why Aerospace & Defense is doing in this Group - perhaps exposure to Auto industry? Market Beta middling = 1.01 Average Dividend Yield = 2.0% Relatively expensive forward PE = 16.9 Expected LongTerm growth is solid = 12.5% High expected ROE = 23.6% Middling leverage Debt/Equity = 69.8%
151020 Const Matri 201020 Bidg Products 201050 Ind Congim 251020 Automobiles 252010 Hhold Durable 404020 Reits 404030 RI Est Mgmt Dev 452040 Office Elect 151050 Ppr & Frst Pd 201060 Machinery 251010 Auto Comp 452030 Elec, Inst& Comp 401010 Cm Banks 402010 Div Fin Svc 402020 Cons Fin 402030 Capital Mrkt 403010 Insurance		A motley bunch but common theme is that they are likely to benefit late in the cycle. The Group includes Materials (Construction Material, Paper), Industrials (Machinery, Electric Instruments,Conglomerates), Consumer Discretionary (Auto & Comps, Household Durables) and most of the Financial Sector including Real Estate. The last fact may reflect the effect of the financial bubble and its bursting. Highest Market Beta = 1.38 Relatively lower Dividend Yield = 1.8% Look cheapest on forward PE = 13.0 Unimpressive LongTerm Growth = 10.0% Equally unexciting forward ROE = 13.5% Very high leverage Debt/Equity = 100.8%

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

1.0 0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2 0.0 -0.2 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6

## A Practical Example: Exploiting Joint Industry Behavior for Alpha Generation

How can the joint behavior of industries be exploited for alpha generation? Here we give one simple and practical example. Industries that are positively correlated, particularly those that are *co-integrated*, are likely to exhibit mean reverting behavior. To test this idea we back-tested mean reversion on all possible pairs of industry groups (GICS Level II).

Figure 16 plots the Information Ratio (IR) of each pair strategy versus its respective pair correlations<sup>10</sup>. Clearly, the higher the correlation, the higher the respective pair strategy's IR is. Furthermore, the IR of strategies with pair correlations above 0.3 is almost always positive.

Figure 16: Reversal Individual Pair Trade IR against Excess Return Pair Correlation



-0.2

-0.4

Figure 17 presents the same analysis by first dividing the pair correlations into ten equal buckets and then averaging the IR for each bucket - the positive relationship (between IR and pair correlation) persists, with all buckets exhibiting a positive IR.

0.2

IR-1mth-reversal-weekly

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0



0.0

0.00 -0.40 -0.30 -0.20 -0.10 0.00 0.10 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.50 IR-1mth-reversal

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

<sup>10</sup> Correlation is computed based on an industry group's excess return



22

Dubravko Lakos-Bujas

dubravko.lakos-bujas@jpmorgan.com

Is efficacy of mean reversion

between two industries related

to their pair wise correlation?

(1-212) 622-3601



Lastly, we combined all mean reversion pairs with correlation above 0.3 to create a basket trade, with each pair equally weighted. The hypothetical cumulative total return of a dollar invested in such a strategy is shown in Figure 18. The result would have been IR of 0.5 with fairly consistent performance.





Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

# Sectors or Industries: Can Macro Help Discriminate?

One of the key reasons for modeling industry rotation is to optimally incorporate top down macro and industry specific information as an input into predicting relative stock return. One could also use an industry rotation model as an independent alpha source that could potentially be uncorrelated with other asset classes in the portfolio.

In the previous section we saw that greater the industry disaggregation, the smaller the size of stock-specific variation in making stock calls, while greater is the variation contribution of industry component. This implies that ideally we should choose more granular disaggregation of industry—Level II or Level III or even finer. However, there is likely to be a trade-off between the greater opportunities associated with higher level of disaggregation (the spread of industry portfolios' returns is wider) and our ability to forecast those portfolios based on macro trends.

One way to estimate the size of the trade-off is to examine the correlation of macro variables with different levels of industry disaggregation. To that note, we took ten macro variables – 5 related to growth and 5 related to inflation – and examined their correlation with sector, industry group and industry portfolios. As is well known the stock market tends to lead macro variables; in fact, most leading indicators of growth and inflation have one or more financial prices as a component of the indicator. As an example, consider the ISM Manufacturing New Orders Index, a fairly good leading indicator of economic growth in the US. Figure 19 shows lead/lag correlation of one-month change in this indicator and the S&P 500 Index monthly return.



Figure 19: Lead/Lag Relationship between S&P 500 and ISM Manufacturing New Orders Index

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

In order to examine the ability of ISM New Orders indicator to discriminate relative performance of sector indices, we examine the lead/lag correlations of excess returns of sector indices and macro indicator. The simple idea is that the larger the dispersion of ISM New Orders' leading correlation with sector excess returns, the better that this indicator can predict relative performance of the sector.

Figures 20 and 21 illustrate the lead/lag of excess returns of ISM with cyclical and defensive sectors respectively. As expected, the cyclical sectors have generally positive correlations with the ISM indicator, while the defensive sectors have generally negative correlations. Like was the case with the market (S&P500), even the sector excess returns, to a large extent, anticipate the change in ISM index. However, the lead time over ISM index is one month (where month = -1) for Materials and Industrials. Even though the sizes of the correlations appear small, for financial time series these are statistically meaningful. Based on statistical distribution of correlation coefficients, the coefficient of 0.09 for Materials has a t-stat of 1.46, while the coefficient of 2.41.

Figure 20: ISM New Orders Discriminates Cyclical Materials and Industrials, but not Info Tech and Consumer Discretionary



Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

For defensives, HealthCare, Utilities and Telecom excess returns correlation with respect to change in ISM New Orders is around -0.10 (where month = -2) with t-statistics around 1.70.

Macro indicators have some predictive power for discriminating across industries



Figure 21: ISM New Orders Discriminates Defensives HealthCare, Utilities and Telecom, but not Consumer Staples

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

To sum up the effectiveness of the ISM New Orders index as a discriminating factor for relative performance of sector, we took the standard deviation of the correlation as the summary statistic. In the case of ISM New Orders, the standard deviation over 10 sectors works out to 10.1%. We repeated the same exercise for 23 industry groups and 45 industries. To keep the correlations and summary statistics comparable we excluded industries where the return data was not available for the entire time period – see Table 4.

Table 4: Standard Deviation of Correlations between Macro Indicators and Excess Return of Industries at Each GICS Level – Results are Similar though Level II has a Small Edge

(00/1080 to 02/2012)	Sectors	Industry Groups	Industries
(09/1989 (0 03/2013)	(GICS Level 1)	(GICS Level 2)	(GICS Level 3)
ISM Manufacturing PMI New Orders	10.1%	9.8%	9.3%
Yield Curve (10 Yr - 3 M)	7.9%	7.7%	8.9%
Moody's BAA-AAA Spread	14.8%	15.0%	14.0%
Conference Board LEI (YoY)	8.1%	8.9%	9.1%
Initial Jobless Claims (4 Wk Avg)	10.9%	10.7%	10.1%
PPI (YoY, SA)	8.6%	9.5%	9.2%
CPI (YoY, SA)	9.5%	10.7%	9.7%
CRB Commodity Price (YoY)	9.6%	9.3%	9.4%
ISM Business Price	11.5%	9.8%	9.5%
Michigan 1 Yr Ahead Inflation Expectation	7.5%	8.7%	8.8%
Average	9.8%	10.0%	9.8%

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

In conclusion, given the slightly higher average standard deviation of correlation (macro indicators versus industries), Level II disaggregation has a small edge in discriminating across industries as compared to Level I and Level III, though the difference is not very significant.

On average, macro indicators discriminate across GICS Level Il industries slightly better than at Level I or Level III

# References

Campbell, J.Y., Lettau M., Malkiel B.G., and Xu X., (2001) "Have individual stocks become more volatile? An empirical exploration of idiosyncratic risk", Journal of Finance 56, pp. 21-43.

Bali, T.G., Cakici, N., Levy, H., (2008) "A model-independent measure of aggregate idiosyncratic risk", Journal of Empirical Finance 15 pp. 878–896.

Kolanovic et al., 2012, <u>Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs): 2012 J.P. Morgan Global</u> <u>ETF Handbook</u>

Kolanovic, 2011, Rise of Cross-Asset Correlations

Kolanovic, 2010, Why We Have a Correlation Bubble

Kolanovic, 2010, A New Framework for Trading Index Correlation

# Appendix

# A: GICS Industry Classifications (Level I, II, III)

Sector		Industry Group		Industry
10 Energy	1010	Energy	101010	Energy Equipment & Services
			101020	Oil, Gas & Consumable Fuels
15 Materials	1510	Materials	151010	Chemicals
			151020	Construction Materials
			151030	Containers & Packaging
			151040	Metals & Mining
			151050	Paper & Forest Products
20 Industrials	2010	Capital Goods	201010	Aerospace & Defense
			201020	Building Products
			201030	Construction & Engineering
			201040	Electrical Equipment
			201050	Industrial Conglomerates
			201060	Machinery
	2020	Commercial & Professional Services	201070	Commercial Services & Supplies
	2020	Commercial & Professional Services	202010	Brofossional Sarvices
	2020	Transportation	202020	Air Freight & Logistics
	2030	Transportation	203010	
			203020	Marines
			203030	Road & Pail
			203040	Transportation Infrastructure
25. Consumer Discretionary	2510	Automobiles & Components	261010	Auto Components
25 Consumer Discretionary	2510	Automobiles & components	251010	Automobiles
	2520	Consumer Durables & Apparel	252010	Household Durables
	2520	Consumer Durables & Apparen	252010	Loisuro Equipment & Products
			252020	Textiles Apparel & Luxum Coods
	2520	Consumer Services	252030	Hotols, Rostaurante & Loisuro
	2550	Consumer Services	253010	Divorcified Consumer Services
	2540	Modia	253020	Modia
	2540	Neula Beteiling	254010	Neula
	2550	Retaining	255010	Internet & Cotaleg Batell
			255020	Multilino Potail
			255030	Specialty Botoil
20. Consumer Staples	2010	Food & Staples Potailing	201010	Specially Retail
ou consumer staples	3020	Food Beverage & Tobacco	302010	Beverages
	3020	rood, Beverage & robacco	302010	Ecod Broducte
			302030	Tobacco
	3030	Household & Personal Products	303010	Household Products
			303020	Personal Products
35 Health Care	3510	Health Care Equipment & Services	351010	Health Care Equipment & Supplies
			351020	Health Care Providers & Services
			351030	Health Care Technology
	3520	Pharmaceuticals. Biotechnology & Life Sciences	352010	Biotechnology
			352020	Pharmaceuticals
			352030	Life Sciences Tools & Services
40 Financials	4010	Banks	401010	Commercial Banks
			401020	Thrifts & Mortgage Finance
	4020	Diversified Financials	402010	Diversified Financial Services
			402020	Consumer Finance
			402030	Capital Markets
	4030	Insurance	403010	Insurance
	4040	Real Estate	404010	Real Estate Discontinued 04/28/2006
			404020	Real Estate Investment Trusts (RETs)
			404030	Real Estate Management & Development
45 Information Technology	4510	Software & Services	451010	Internet Software & Services
			451020	IT Services
			451030	Software
	4520	Technology Hardware & Equipment	452010	Communications Equipment
			452020	Computers & Peripherals
			452030	Electronic Equipment, Instruments & Components
			452040	Office Electronics
	4530	Semiconductors & Semiconductor Equipment	453010	Semiconductors & Semiconductor Equipment
50 Telecommunication Services	5010	Telecommunication Services	501010	Diversified Telecommunication Services
			501020	Wireless Telecommunication Services
55 Utilities	5510	Utilities	551010	Electric Utilities
			551020	Gas Utilities
			551030	Multi-Utilities
			551040	Water Utilities
			551050	Independent Power Producers & Energy Traders

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies



# B: Share of Stock-Specific Idiosyncratic Variance – by Industry Groups

Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

# J.P.Morgan



Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

### **C: Intra- and Inter-Sector Stock Correlations**

Industry	Mean Intra- Mean Number of		Max Inter-	Min Inter-Industry
muusuy	Industry Pair	Pairs	Industry	Correlation with:
Energy	0.40	464	Utilities	Info Tech
Telecom Services	0.24	47	Utilities	Materials
Materials	0.18	814	Industrials	Telecom Srv
Financials	0.15	2511	Cons Discret	Info Tech
Consumer Staples	0.15	887	Utilities	Info Tech
Info Tech	0.14	1713	Cons Discret	Utilities
Health Care	0.11	890	Cons Staples	Info Tech
Industrials	0.10	2071	Materials	Telecom Srv
Consumer Discretionary	0.08	3261	Industrials	Utilities

### **D: Intra- and Inter-Industry Group Time-Series Correlations**



30

# J.P.Morgan



Source: Bloomberg, J.P. Morgan Quantitative and Derivatives Strategies

31

# J.P.Morgan











### E: Cross-Sectional Equality of Means Test Analysis



### 32

# J.P.Morgan





















33























### F: Industry Clusters (1990–2013)



#### Industry Clusters: 1990-2013

302010 Beverages	101010 Engy Eqm & Sv	201020 Bldg Products	201050 Ind Conglm	452010 Comm Eqpm
303010 Hhold Pdts	151040 Metals & Mng	252010 Hhold Durable	251020 Automobiles	453010 Semi & Semi Equp
302020 Food Pdts	201030 Const & Eng	201060 Machinery	203010 Air Frt & Log	452020 Comp & Peri
301010 Fd & Stpl Ret	201040 Elect Eqpm	251010 Auto Comp	203020 Airlines	451030 Software
551010 Electric Util			255030 Multiline Ret	452030 Elec, Inst& Comp
	101020 Oil Gas C Fuel	201010 Aero & Defns	255040 Spctly Ret	
302030 Tobacco	551020 Gas Util	252020 Lei Eqm & Pdt	254010 Media	
351020 HC Pvdrs Svc		252030 Txtl & Apprl		
351010 HC Eqm & Sup	151010 Chemicals	253010 Htl Rst & Lei	401010 Cm Banks	
352020 Pharm	151030 Cont & Pkg	202010 Comm Svc&⋑	402020 Cons Fin	
352010 Biotechnology	151050 Ppr & Frst Pd	303020 Prnsl Pdts	403010 Insurance	
501010 Div Tele Svc	203040 Road & Rail			



35

### Disclosures

This report is a product of the research department's Global Equity Derivatives and Quantitative Strategy group. Views expressed may differ from the views of the research analysts covering stocks or sectors mentioned in this report. Structured securities, options, futures and other derivatives are complex instruments, may involve a high degree of risk, and may be appropriate investments only for sophisticated investors who are capable of understanding and assuming the risks involved. Because of the importance of tax considerations to many option transactions, the investor considering options should consult with his/her tax advisor as to how taxes affect the outcome of contemplated option transactions.

**Analyst Certification:** The research analyst(s) denoted by an "AC" on the cover of this report certifies (or, where multiple research analysts are primarily responsible for this report, the research analyst denoted by an "AC" on the cover or within the document individually certifies, with respect to each security or issuer that the research analyst covers in this research) that: (1) all of the views expressed in this report accurately reflect his or her personal views about any and all of the subject securities or issuers; and (2) no part of any of the research analyst's compensation was, is, or will be directly or indirectly related to the specific recommendations or views expressed by the research analyst(s) in this report.

### **Important Disclosures**

**Company-Specific Disclosures:** Important disclosures, including price charts, are available for compendium reports and all J.P. Morgancovered companies by visiting <u>https://mm.jpmorgan.com/disclosures/company</u>, calling 1-800-477-0406, or e-mailing <u>research.disclosure.inquiries@jpmorgan.com</u> with your request. J.P. Morgan's Strategy, Technical, and Quantitative Research teams may screen companies not covered by J.P. Morgan. For important disclosures for these companies, please call 1-800-477-0406 or e-mail <u>research.disclosure.inquiries@jpmorgan.com</u>.

### Explanation of Equity Research Ratings, Designations and Analyst(s) Coverage Universe:

J.P. Morgan uses the following rating system: Overweight [Over the next six to twelve months, we expect this stock will outperform the average total return of the stocks in the analyst's (or the analyst's team's) coverage universe.] Neutral [Over the next six to twelve months, we expect this stock will perform in line with the average total return of the stocks in the analyst's team's) coverage universe.] Underweight [Over the next six to twelve months, we expect this stock will underperform the average total return of the stocks in the analyst's (or the analyst's team's) coverage universe.] Underweight [Over the next six to twelve months, we expect this stock will underperform the average total return of the stocks in the analyst's (or the analyst's team's) coverage universe.] Not Rated (NR): J.P. Morgan has removed the rating and, if applicable, the price target, for this stock because of either a lack of a sufficient fundamental basis or for legal, regulatory or policy reasons. The previous rating and, if applicable, the price target, no longer should be relied upon. An NR designation is not a recommendation or a rating. In our Asia (ex-Australia) and U.K. small- and mid-cap equity research, each stock's expected total return is compared to the expected total return of a benchmark country market index, not to those analysts' coverage universe. If it does not appear in the Important Disclosures section of this report, the certifying analyst's coverage universe can be found on J.P. Morgan's research website, www.jpmorganmarkets.com.

#### J.P. Morgan Equity Research Ratings Distribution, as of March 30, 2013

	Overweight	Neutral	Underweight
	(buy)	(hold)	(sell)
J.P. Morgan Global Equity Research Coverage	43%	44%	13%
IB clients*	54%	47%	38%
JPMS Equity Research Coverage	42%	50%	9%
IB clients*	74%	64%	57%

\*Percentage of investment banking clients in each rating category.

For purposes only of FINRA/NYSE ratings distribution rules, our Overweight rating falls into a buy rating category; our Neutral rating falls into a hold rating category; and our Underweight rating falls into a sell rating category. Please note that stocks with an NR designation are not included in the table above.

**Equity Valuation and Risks:** For valuation methodology and risks associated with covered companies or price targets for covered companies, please see the most recent company-specific research report at <a href="http://www.jpmorganmarkets.com">http://www.jpmorganmarkets.com</a>, contact the primary analyst or your J.P. Morgan representative, or email <a href="research.disclosure.inquiries@jpmorgan.com">research.disclosure.inquiries@jpmorgan.com</a>.

**Equity Analysts' Compensation:** The equity research analysts responsible for the preparation of this report receive compensation based upon various factors, including the quality and accuracy of research, client feedback, competitive factors, and overall firm revenues.

**Registration of non-US Analysts:** Unless otherwise noted, the non-US analysts listed on the front of this report are employees of non-US affiliates of JPMS, are not registered/qualified as research analysts under NASD/NYSE rules, may not be associated persons of JPMS, and may not be subject to FINRA Rule 2711 and NYSE Rule 472 restrictions on communications with covered companies, public appearances, and trading securities held by a research analyst account.

36

#### **Conflict of Interest**

This research contains the views, opinions and recommendations of J.P. Morgan research analysts. J.P. Morgan has adopted research conflict of interest policies, including prohibitions on non-research personnel influencing the content of research. Research analysts still may speak to J.P. Morgan trading desk personnel in formulating views, opinions and recommendations. Trading desks may trade, or have traded, as principal on the basis of the research analysts' views and research. Therefore, this research may not be independent from the proprietary interests of J.P. Morgan trading desks which may conflict with your interests. As a general matter, J.P. Morgan and/or its affiliates trade as principal in connection with making markets in fixed income securities, commodities and other investment instruments discussed in research reports.

#### **Other Disclosures**

J.P. Morgan ("JPM") is the global brand name for J.P. Morgan Securities LLC ("JPMS") and its affiliates worldwide. J.P. Morgan Cazenove is a marketing name for the U.K. investment banking businesses and EMEA cash equities and equity research businesses of JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its subsidiaries.

All research reports made available to clients are simultaneously available on our client website, J.P. Morgan Markets. Not all research content is redistributed, e-mailed or made available to third-party aggregators. For all research reports available on a particular stock, please contact your sales representative.

**Options related research:** If the information contained herein regards options related research, such information is available only to persons who have received the proper option risk disclosure documents. For a copy of the Option Clearing Corporation's Characteristics and Risks of Standardized Options, please contact your J.P. Morgan Representative or visit the OCC's website at <a href="http://www.optionsclearing.com/publications/risks/riskstoc.pdf">http://www.optionsclearing.com/publications/risks/riskstoc.pdf</a>

#### **Legal Entities Disclosures**

U.S.: JPMS is a member of NYSE, FINRA, SIPC and the NFA. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is a member of FDIC and is authorized and regulated in the UK by the Financial Services Authority. U.K.: J.P. Morgan Securities plc (JPMS plc) is a member of the London Stock Exchange and is authorized and regulated by the Financial Services Authority. Registered in England & Wales No. 2711006. Registered Office 25 Bank Street, London, E14 5JP. South Africa: J.P. Morgan Equities South Africa Proprietary Limited is a member of the Johannesburg Securities Exchange and is regulated by the Financial Services Board. Hong Kong: J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited (CE number AAJ321) is regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority and the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong. Korea: J.P. Morgan Securities (Far East) Ltd, Seoul Branch, is regulated by the Korea Financial Supervisory Service. Australia: J.P. Morgan Australia Limited (JPMAL) (ABN 52 002 888 011/AFS Licence No: 238188) is regulated by ASIC and J.P. Morgan Securities Australia Limited (JPMSAL) (ABN 61 003 245 234/AFS Licence No: 238066) is regulated by ASIC and is a Market, Clearing and Settlement Participant of ASX Limited and CHI-X. Taiwan: J.P. Morgan Securities (Taiwan) Limited is a participant of the Taiwan Stock Exchange (company-type) and regulated by the Taiwan Securities and Futures Bureau. India: J.P. Morgan India Private Limited, having its registered office at J.P. Morgan Tower, Off. C.S.T. Road, Kalina, Santacruz East, Mumbai - 400098, is a member of the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (SEBI Registration Number - INB 230675231/INF 230675231/INE 230675231) and Bombay Stock Exchange Limited (SEBI Registration Number - INB 010675237/INF 010675237) and is regulated by Securities and Exchange Board of India. Thailand: JPMorgan Securities (Thailand) Limited is a member of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and is regulated by the Ministry of Finance and the Securities and Exchange Commission. Indonesia: PT J.P. Morgan Securities Indonesia is a member of the Indonesia Stock Exchange and is regulated by the BAPEPAM LK. Philippines: J.P. Morgan Securities Philippines Inc. is a Trading Participant of the Philippine Stock Exchange and a member of the Securities Clearing Corporation of the Philippines and the Securities Investor Protection Fund. It is regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Brazil: Banco J.P. Morgan S.A. is regulated by the Comissao de Valores Mobiliarios (CVM) and by the Central Bank of Brazil. Mexico: J.P. Morgan Casa de Bolsa, S.A. de C.V., J.P. Morgan Grupo Financiero is a member of the Mexican Stock Exchange and authorized to act as a broker dealer by the National Banking and Securities Exchange Commission. Singapore: This material is issued and distributed in Singapore by J.P. Morgan Securities Singapore Private Limited (JPMSS) [MIC (P) 049/04/2013 and Co. Reg. No.: 199405335R] which is a member of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and is regulated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) and/or JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Singapore branch (JPMCB Singapore) which is regulated by the MAS. Japan: JPMorgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd. is regulated by the Financial Services Agency in Japan. Malaysia: This material is issued and distributed in Malaysia by JPMorgan Securities (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (18146-X) which is a Participating Organization of Bursa Malaysia Berhad and a holder of Capital Markets Services License issued by the Securities Commission in Malaysia. Pakistan: J. P. Morgan Pakistan Broking (Pvt.) Ltd is a member of the Karachi Stock Exchange and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan. Saudi Arabia: J.P. Morgan Saudi Arabia Ltd. is authorized by the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (CMA) to carry out dealing as an agent, arranging, advising and custody, with respect to securities business under licence number 35-07079 and its registered address is at 8th Floor, Al-Faisaliyah Tower, King Fahad Road, P.O. Box 51907, Riyadh 11553, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Dubai: JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Dubai Branch is regulated by the Dubai Financial Services Authority (DFSA) and its registered address is Dubai International Financial Centre - Building 3, Level 7, PO Box 506551, Dubai, UAE.

#### **Country and Region Specific Disclosures**

**U.K. and European Economic Area (EEA):** Unless specified to the contrary, issued and approved for distribution in the U.K. and the EEA by JPMS plc. Investment research issued by JPMS plc has been prepared in accordance with JPMS plc's policies for managing conflicts of interest arising as a result of publication and distribution of investment research. Many European regulators require a firm to establish, implement and maintain such a policy. This report has been issued in the U.K. only to persons of a kind described in Article 19 (5), 38, 47 and 49 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (all such persons being referred to as "relevant persons"). This document must not be acted on or relied on by persons who are not relevant persons. Any investment or investment activity to which this document relates is only available to relevant persons and will be engaged in only with relevant persons. In other EEA countries, the report has been issued to persons regarded as professional investors (or equivalent) in their home jurisdiction. **Australia:** This material is issued and distributed by JPMSAL in Australia to "wholesale clients" only. This material does not take into account the specific investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs of the recipient. The recipient of this material must not distribute it to any third party or outside Australia without the prior written consent of JPMSAL. For the purposes of this paragraph the term "wholesale client" has the meaning given in section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. **Germany:** This material is distributed in Germany by J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Frankfurt

# J.P.Morgan

Branch and J.P.Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Frankfurt Branch which are regulated by the Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht. Hong Kong: The 1% ownership disclosure as of the previous month end satisfies the requirements under Paragraph 16.5(a) of the Hong Kong Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the Securities and Futures Commission. (For research published within the first ten days of the month, the disclosure may be based on the month end data from two months prior.) J.P. Morgan Broking (Hong Kong) Limited is the liquidity provider/market maker for derivative warrants, callable bull bear contracts and stock options listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. An updated list can be found on HKEx website: http://www.hkex.com.hk. Japan: There is a risk that a loss may occur due to a change in the price of the shares in the case of share trading, and that a loss may occur due to the exchange rate in the case of foreign share trading. In the case of share trading, JPMorgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd., will be receiving a brokerage fee and consumption tax (shouhizei) calculated by multiplying the executed price by the commission rate which was individually agreed between JPMorgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd., and the customer in advance. Financial Instruments Firms: JPMorgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd., Kanto Local Finance Bureau (kinsho) No. 82 Participating Association / Japan Securities Dealers Association, The Financial Futures Association of Japan, Type II Financial Instruments Firms Association and Japan Investment Advisers Association. Korea: This report may have been edited or contributed to from time to time by affiliates of J.P. Morgan Securities (Far East) Ltd, Seoul Branch. Singapore: JPMSS and/or its affiliates may have a holding in any of the securities discussed in this report; for securities where the holding is 1% or greater, the specific holding is disclosed in the Important Disclosures section above. India: For private circulation only, not for sale. Pakistan: For private circulation only, not for sale. New Zealand: This material is issued and distributed by JPMSAL in New Zealand only to persons whose principal business is the investment of money or who, in the course of and for the purposes of their business, habitually invest money. JPMSAL does not issue or distribute this material to members of "the public" as determined in accordance with section 3 of the Securities Act 1978. The recipient of this material must not distribute it to any third party or outside New Zealand without the prior written consent of JPMSAL. Canada: The information contained herein is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, a prospectus, an advertisement, a public offering, an offer to sell securities described herein, or solicitation of an offer to buy securities described herein, in Canada or any province or territory thereof. Any offer or sale of the securities described herein in Canada will be made only under an exemption from the requirements to file a prospectus with the relevant Canadian securities regulators and only by a dealer properly registered under applicable securities laws or, alternatively, pursuant to an exemption from the dealer registration requirement in the relevant province or territory of Canada in which such offer or sale is made. The information contained herein is under no circumstances to be construed as investment advice in any province or territory of Canada and is not tailored to the needs of the recipient. To the extent that the information contained herein references securities of an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of Canada or a province or territory of Canada, any trades in such securities must be conducted through a dealer registered in Canada. No securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada has reviewed or in any way passed judgment upon these materials, the information contained herein or the merits of the securities described herein, and any representation to the contrary is an offence. Dubai: This report has been issued to persons regarded as professional clients as defined under the DFSA rules. Brazil: Ombudsman J.P. Morgan: 0800-7700847 / ouvidoria.jp.morgan@jpmorgan.com.

**General:** Additional information is available upon request. Information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but JPMorgan Chase & Co. or its affiliates and/or subsidiaries (collectively J.P. Morgan) do not warrant its completeness or accuracy except with respect to any disclosures relative to JPMS and/or its affiliates and the analyst's involvement with the issuer that is the subject of the research. All pricing is as of the close of market for the securities discussed, unless otherwise stated. Opinions and estimates constitute our judgment as of the date of this material and are subject to change without notice. Past performance is not indicative of future results. This material is not intended as an offer or solicitation for the purchase or sale of any financial instrument. The opinions and recommendations herein do not take into account individual client circumstances, objectives, or needs and are not independent decisions regarding any securities or financial instruments mentioned herein. JPMS distributes in the U.S. research published by non-U.S. affiliates and accepts responsibility for its contents. Periodic updates may be provided on companies/industries based on company specific developments or announcements, market conditions or any other publicly available information. Clients should contact analysts and execute transactions through a J.P. Morgan subsidiary or affiliate in their home jurisdiction unless governing law permits otherwise.

"Other Disclosures" last revised May 4, 2013.

Copyright 2013 JPMorgan Chase & Co. All rights reserved. This report or any portion hereof may not be reprinted, sold or redistributed without the written consent of J.P. Morgan.